

Interventional Radiology: Guidance for Service Delivery

A Report from the National Imaging Board

Policy Estates HR / Workforce Commissioning Management IM & T Planning / Finance

Social Care / Partnership Working

Etiritalance

,	
Document Purpose	Best Practice Guidance
Gateway Reference	15008
Title	Interventional Radiology: Guidance for Service Delivery
Author	National Imaging Board - sponsored by DH
Publication Date	November 2010
Target Audience	NHS Trust CEs, SHA CEs, Foundation Trust CEs, Medical Directors, Allied Health Professionals, Trust service managers
Circulation List	Directors of HR, Directors of Finance, Centre for Workforce Intelligence, English Deans, NHS Improvement
Description	The document provides a summary of the evidence base to show how IR services can contribute to improved outcomes, safety and experience. It proposes a framework of options for IR service development to guide providers and commissioners in ensuring appropriate provision for their patients.
Cross Ref	Interventional radiology: Improving Quality and Outcomes
Superseded Docs	n/a
Action Required	n/a
Timing	n/a
Contact Details	Sponsor: Peter Lemmey Clinical Policies and Strategies Department of Health for the National Imaging Board
For Recipient's Use	

© Crown copyright 2010
First published November 2010
Published to DH website, in electronic PDF format only.
http://www.dh.gov.uk/publications

Interventional Radiology: Guidance for Service Delivery

A Report from the National Imaging Board

Prepared by a specially convened sub-group of the National Imaging Board (NIB) to provide advice for commissioners and providers of Interventional Radiology services and commissioned as a result of a previous publication, *Interventional radiology:* improving quality and outcomes for patients. A report from the National Imaging Board, 2009.

Contents

Contents	3
Foreword	4
Executive summary	5
What is Interventional Radiology?	7
Why do we need good IR services? The Key Messages	
Gastrointestinal (GI) Bleeding	8
The Kidney and Acute Kidney Injury	8
Trauma	
Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms (AAAs)	9
Peripheral Vascular Disease	
The Liver	
Uterine Disease – Fibroids	11
Uterine Disease – Postpartum Haemorrhage (PPH)	12
Cancer Management	
Renal Vascular Access	
Venous Thrombo Embolic Disease	
Specification for an IR Service	15
Organisational Commitment	
24/7 Service delivery	
9-5 Service delivery within a network	
Network development	
Providing an out-of-hours interventional radiology service	18
Payment by Results (PbR) and Activity Data	
Áctivity	
Conclusion	22
Appendix A - Review of the literature	24
Aortic Disease	
Peripheral Vascular Disease	26
The Severely Injured Patient	28
The Kidney	
Gastrointestinal Bleeding	30
The Liver	31
Uterine Disease	33
Appendix B – Case Studies	37
Emergency drainage for treatment of abscess by an on call interventional radiologist	37
Emergency interventional radiology for post partum haemorrhage	
Emergency stent graft insertion requiring patient transfer to a specialist IR unit	37
Trauma and the need for a full on call IR team	38
GI Bleeding and integrated services with IR involvement	38
Appendix C – References	39
Acknowledgements	51

Foreword

Interventional Radiology (IR) offers the NHS gains in clinical outcome, productivity, patient experience and length of stay when compared with alternative traditional procedures. Access to IR services is very variable across the country, despite the recognition that IR saves lives.

This document provides a road-map for local service development of IR. It builds on the 2009 report from the National Imaging Board which informed and stimulated discussion about how IR services can support the QIPP agenda. It describes how successful IR services have been set up, summarises the clinical evidence base and indicates a range of development options for commissioners and Trusts.

I hope it will prove a spur to action.

I should like to thank all contributors for making their time and expert knowledge available to produce this guidance for service improvement.

Sir Bruce Keogh

NHS Medical Director

Executive summary

This document has been prepared by a specially convened sub-group of the National Imaging Board (NIB) to provide advice for commissioners and providers who wish to develop their Interventional Radiology services. It was commissioned as a result of a previous publication *Interventional radiology: improving quality and outcomes for patients. A report from the National Imaging Board*, 2009.

The 2009 report illustrated how the NHS can improve quality, safety and productivity while delivering the highest quality care with comparable or better outcomes for patients, shorter hospital stays and fewer major complications.

The 2010 White Paper, *Equity and Excellence: Liberating the NHS* aims to put patients at the centre of decisions made about their care and to ensure that care is effective, safe and meets patient expectations. The white paper also expects to give patients choice over some treatment options. Already clinicians are working to facilitate patient choice by giving patients the information they need to make effective decisions.

Currently the provision of Interventional Radiology (IR) services varies throughout the NHS in England; the NIB in its previous report pointed to the implications for quality of care and the choice available to patients. There are units currently providing good quality IR care delivered by skilled multidisciplinary teams and this document is in no way meant to destabilise areas of good practice.

The document provides a summary of the evidence base for how comprehensive IR services can contribute to improved outcomes, safety and experience for patients who present with relevant emergency and planned care conditions. In the appendices we have provided a synopsis of the main literature in this field and a list of key references for further reading.

An effective, well resourced IR service can contribute to significant efficiencies (financial and non-financial) in care pathways in both planned and emergency care.

This document describes a framework for IR and will support providers and commissioners to plan appropriate provision of IR services for their patients. Such services should be available at all times and delivered using appropriate equipment by well trained doctors, radiographers and nurses.

This document does not consider IR services for children in detail although it acknowledges that access to paediatric IR services is also variable. A 2010 report from the National Imaging Board on *Delivering quality imaging services for children* discusses this in more detail. Many of the radiologists providing IR services to children are not currently trained specifically in children's IR. In June 2010 the Royal College of Radiologists and the Royal College of

Paediatrics and Child Health published a joint report *Improving paediatric interventional radiology services* which examines the problems in, and suggests solutions to, improving service delivery and access to paediatric IR services.

Although this document refers only to services in England, the Managed Diagnostic Imaging Clinical Network in Scotland and NHS Scotland have also produced a report (in final draft 2010) *Standards for Haemorrhage Control Services in Scotland*. Their report recognises that IR services have an important and developing role to play. It sets out the aim to provide equity of access to emergency haemorrhage control services provided by their IR teams.

The current constraints to delivering a comprehensive service are explored here and include:

- a lack of awareness amongst commissioners and providers of the true role for IR
- a lack of an appropriately trained workforce including dedicated training and consultant posts in IR with clear career pathways. This also applies to nurses and radiographers
- a lack of clarity on funding such a service within Payment by Results
- a lack of availability of appropriate diagnostic equipment e.g. modern CT and MRI
- a lack of access to out-patient clinics, admission rights, and support staff.

This document provides examples of how a comprehensive IR service can be achieved in a variety of settings. IR is not a service where 'one size fits all' so this document explores different models of service.

What is Interventional Radiology?

IR is a minimally invasive alternative to open surgery or medical interventions that uses radiological image guidance (fluoroscopy, ultrasound, computed tomography [CT] or magnetic resonance imaging [MRI]) to effect treatment. IR has developed over the last 45 years within a diagnostic discipline so the role of IR as a therapeutic specialty is often ignored and misunderstood. IR is as different to diagnostic radiology as surgery is to medicine, but just as a surgeon needs the diagnostic skills of a physician the interventional radiologist requires the same skills as the diagnostic radiologist. The basic skills of an interventional radiologist are in image interpretation and, therefore, core diagnostic radiology is at the heart of IR training.

There is hardly any area of hospital medicine where IR has not had some impact on patient management. Although interventional radiologists have many techniques at their disposal it should be recognised that not every interventional radiologist has all these skills: some continue to specialise in the area of their diagnostic radiology specialty and provide expertise in some areas of intervention (e.g. vascular vs. non-vascular techniques).

For the purposes of this document IR is defined by the subject areas referred to in the review of the literature only and cardiac interventions, neurological interventions and specialist paediatric services are not considered.

If it were practical an IR service would provide a local service which was safe and timely with well documented high quality clinical outcomes. However it is acknowledged that there will be capacity and capability issues which may make it unrealistic for some smaller hospitals to achieve this in isolation. In addition, for certain procedures such as transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunts (TIPS), patients should travel to a few dedicated centres undertaking enough cases to ensure the appropriate levels of expertise are sustained.

Why do we need good IR services? The Key Messages

IR provides a cornerstone to many clinical pathways across a very broad spectrum of specialty areas.

Described below are the most common clinical scenarios requiring IR. This is not an exclusive list. Appendix A provides more detail on the broad scope of IR practice. The paragraphs below give just the key messages.

Gastrointestinal (GI) Bleeding

Acute Upper GI bleeding

Evidence suggests that 65 patients per annum are admitted per 100,000 population with acute upper GI bleeding. Of this number 15% will require IR because of conditions such as haemorrhage from peptic ulceration. This equates to approximately 100 patients per annum for a population of 1 million but does not include additional cases such as post operative bleeds or other conditions such as acute pancreatitis and portal hypertension that can cause massive upper GI bleeding and can be managed by IR techniques.

Acute Lower GI Bleeding

A further 20.5 patients per annum are admitted per 100,000 population with acute lower GI bleeding. For a population of 1 million approximately 20 will need IR with the other 90% being treated with conservative measures. However the evidence suggests that this may be an under estimate for some regions: for example the figure for the West of Scotland is 170 GI haemorrhage incidents per 100000 population.

The literature states that:

- transcatheter embolisation has a positive impact on patient survival in the treatment of upper gastro-intestinal bleeding
- transcatheter embolisation is the treatment of choice for lower GI Bleeding
- transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt (TIPS) is the treatment of choice for portal hypertension causing massive lower GI variceal haemorrhage.

The Kidney and Acute Kidney Injury

The reported UK incidence of acute kidney injury (AKI), formerly referred to as acute renal failure increases from 172 per million population per year in 1993 to 486-630 per million per year between 2001-2005. AKI is common in hospitalised patients. It is estimated that between 5 and 20% of all critically ill patients have an episode of AKI. Data from the Intensive Care

National Audit Research Centre (ICNARC) suggests that AKI accounts for nearly 10 per cent of all ICU bed days.

The literature states that:

- percutaneous nephrostomy (PCN) is a well established technique which should be available in all hospitals where patients may present acutely with renal obstruction
- most patients can be treated in 'normal hours' but some emergency presentations require access to a 24/7 PCN service.
- the operator should be adequately trained and have sufficient activity to maintain competence
- PCN is not the only means of treating renal obstruction. There should be close cooperation between radiologists and urologists in all cases.

Trauma

Major trauma is the leading cause of death in patients under 45 years old, the most common cause being road traffic accidents. The National Audit Office (NAO) estimate that there are at least 20,000 cases of major trauma each year in England resulting in 5,400 deaths and many cases of permanent disability requiring long term care. There are approximately an additional 28,000 cases who do not meet the precise definition of 'major trauma' who would be cared for in the same way. They estimate that the cost to the NHS is between £0.3 and £0.4 billion per annum in immediate care and that the annual cost of lost economic output following major trauma is between £3.3 and £3.7 billion. Specific examples of where IR has a major impact in trauma care include dealing with acute haemorrhage due to splenic trauma and major pelvic fractures.

The literature states that:

- in the severely injured patient rapid diagnosis and treatment is critical to avoid death or significant morbidity. The main priority is to diagnose ongoing haemorrhage and instigate prompt and appropriate treatment
- the need for timely high quality CT located in or near the emergency department is key to the survival of trauma patients
- this should be combined with a 24/7 IR service which, once the site of haemorrhage is identified, can provide diagnostic angiography and definitive haemostasis by embolisation or stent grafting
- the Regional Networks for Major Trauma NHS Clinical Advisory Groups Report, September 2010, calls for an interventional radiologist to be in attendance within 60 minutes of patient admission in order to control major haemorrhage.

Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms (AAAs)

Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms (AAA) are most common amongst men aged 65 and older. An AAA is said to be present if the aorta is 3cm or wider in diameter. If an AAA is 5.5cm or larger,

treatment – normally surgery – is usually recommended due to the risk of rupture. In 2000 in England and Wales, AAA ruptures accounted for 6,800 deaths and 2.1% of deaths in men aged 65 and older.

In the Multicentre Aneurysm Screening Study (MASS), aneurysms were present in 4.9% of men aged 65-74 years. AAAs 5.5cm or greater were present in 0.6% men aged 65-74. In a population of 100,000, around 4% (i.e. 4,000 men) are aged 65-74. Therefore approximately 24 men in a population of 100,000 are likely to have an aneurysm of 5.5cm or greater. AAAs are around six times less common in women but there are more women than men aged over 65. Approximately six women in a population of 100,000 are also likely to have an aneurysm of 5.5cm or greater.

This equates to a total of 30 untreated aneurysms among 65 to 74-year-olds in a population of 100,000. In recent years endovascular aneurysm repair (EVAR), which involves IR and vascular surgery to insert a stent graft rather than major open surgery, has become the first choice treatment option for a significant proportion of patients with AAA. As most IR units serve a population 10 times that size and around half the AAAs are suitable for EVAR most units should be doing approximately 150 procedures per year.

The literature states that:

- the low 30-day mortality rate, lower hospital stay, reduced use of in-patient resource and public desire for less invasive techniques will support the continued use of EVAR in patients who are anatomically suitable for aneurysm repair
- the continued development of devices, less intervention in certain clinically insignificant post-intervention findings combined with rationalisation of follow-up protocols will drive down the cost of stent-grafts
- the number of interventions is likely to increase with the ongoing implementation of the NHS AAA Screening Programme, more widespread use of EVAR to manage ruptured AAA, and with technological improvements to increase the number of patients anatomically suitable for EVAR.

Peripheral Vascular Disease

Atherosclerosis sufficiently severe to reduce the blood pressure at the ankle is present in 7-15% of middle aged and elderly patients of Britain. In patients aged 50 and over around 5% complain of intermittent claudication (see appendices page 26-7), rising to 14% of men over 65 yrs. Critical limb ischaemia (CLI) is present in 400 cases per million population i.e. 1 in 2500 of the population annually. With an increasing rate of diabetes and an ageing population the incidence and prevalence of both claudication and CLI is increasing. One third of diabetic patients over 40 have lower limb arterial disease and 15% go on to develop ulceration of the foot. Over a 10 year period the number of major amputation in patients with type 2 diabetes has nearly doubled.

The literature states that:

- the use of IR techniques results in both an improvement in quality of life and good limb salvage results
- IR techniques offer improved patient experience, have low in hospital stay and are cost effective.

The Liver

Liver disease mortality in the UK is increasing at a time when liver death rates are dropping practically everywhere else in Europe. Over the last 30 years liver disease mortality in young and middle-aged people in the UK has increased at least six-fold and liver admissions and liver deaths are both rising at between 8-10% per year. Liver cancer is within the top twenty most common cancers in the UK with 3,407 new cases diagnosed in 2007 and 3,390 deaths in the UK in 2008. Approximately 220 cases per year are recorded in people under 50.

The Liver – Hepatic Malignancy

The literature states that:

- radiofrequency ablation (RFA) is an extremely successful method of providing focal tumour ablation and in skilled hands has a low rate of complications
- patients with treatable extrahepatic disease or those with tumours that have been downsized by chemotherapy (but are not resectable) may be considered for ablative therapy
- transarterial chemoembolisation (TACE) and Y90 radioembolisation treatments are important treatments for primary and metastatic hepatic tumours
- RFA and TACE can downstage primary liver tumours to the point where the patient can then be considered for transplant.

The Liver-Infection

The literature states that:

 percutaneous drainage of hepatic abscess is the therapeutic procedure of choice and is successfully curative in >90% of cases. Percutaneous abscess drainage is an IR procedure but is often performed by general radiologists both during the normal working day and out of hours.

Uterine Disease - Fibroids

Fibroids are the most common gynaecological problem experienced by UK women and are present in 74% of premenopausal women (all races average). They cause clinical symptoms in 30%. For a population of 100,000 women on average 20,000 will have symptoms. Most are managed medically but in 2004/5 38,000 hysterectomies were carried out in the UK. This compares with 57,000 in 1998/9. This decline in hysterectomies continues as practice changes and alternative treatments like uterine artery embolisation (UAE) are used.

The literature states that:

- hysterectomy results in longer hospital stays, longer return to normal activities and higher hospital costs than UAE but is the preferred treatment if amenorrhoea is the preferred outcome
- UAE is efficacious and relieves and stabilises the symptoms of menorrhagia and pain in >90% of patients and pressure symptoms in 60-80%. It carries a high success rate and low complication rate that are sustained in the long term
- whilst there is limited patient satisfaction data available, what is available generally favours
 UAE as the treatment of choice
- UAE is a less expensive option when compared with hysterectomy even when the costs of repeat procedures and associated complications are factored in.

Uterine Disease – Postpartum Haemorrhage (PPH)

Major PPH occurs in 1 in 2000 live births. Waterstone et al report that there are 14,724 reported cases per annum of severe PPH in the UK, although not all are reported and NHS statistics are inaccurate and HES data shows that 1948 emergency hysterectomies for PPH were performed between1998-2000 in England alone with 30 deaths.

The literature states that:

- arterial embolisation in the setting of PPH is safe, non-invasive, and reproducible with low rates of complication and allows patients subsequent normal pregnancy
- if pharmacological measures fail to control haemorrhage, intrauterine balloon tamponade is an appropriate first-line "surgical" intervention for most women where uterine atony is the only or main cause of haemorrhage. If this fails to stop the bleeding, one of the recommended conservative interventions is selective arterial embolisation
- hospitals with obstetric services should provide an emergency IR service to save the lives
 of patients with catastrophic PPH.

Cancer Management

In cancer management interventional radiologists use a variety of techniques, many of which are rapidly evolving, to reduce the size of primary and secondary cancers and IR also plays an essential role for temporary venous access for drug treatment and intravenous feeding e.g. Hickman lines. Palliative cancer care by IR includes the placement of oesophageal and colonic stents.

Cancers in many organ systems are detected at a smaller size than ever before. Smaller tumours are amenable to image-guided ablation (IGA) techniques in the liver, lung and kidney, for example, increasingly avoiding the need for more invasive and costly traditional surgical techniques. There is a rapidly accruing literature confirming the oncologic effectiveness of radiologically-guided thermal ablation techniques such as radiofrequency, microwave and cryoablation.

RFA works by inserting a probe into a tumour and then applying heat to ablate the cancer cells. The interventional radiologist uses image guidance (ultrasound, CT scanning or MRI) to guide the placement of a long, thin insulated needle into the tumour. The distal end of the needle is not insulated and emits radio waves. Electrodes are attached to a generator and the electrical energy is converted to heat that kills cells through coagulation necrosis. This can be performed as an outpatient with conscious sedation and local anaesthesia. RFA may be repeated for new or recurrent disease.

The literature shows that ablative therapy has a lower complication rate than surgery due to its minimally invasive nature and appears to be as effective as surgery in appropriately selected cases. Results indicate a major role for IGA techniques in the management of sub-3cm primary lung tumours and metastases, primary hepatocellular carcinoma, small renal tumours and metastases in the liver.

Gastrointestinal Malignancy and Stenting

Colonic cancer is the third leading cause of cancer related death in the Western world. Oesophageal cancer is eighth and the incidence is rapidly increasing. Oesophageal and gastric cancer often present late and are then only suitable for palliative care. Stenting of the obstructed gastrointestinal tract is now a well established palliative technique bringing rapid symptomatic relief and facilitating further management with chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Stenting is often undertaken by interventional radiologists although other groups may also do this work e.g. endoscopists.

The literature states:

- gastrointestinal stenting is an important palliative tool for advanced cancers of the gut
- colonic stenting may also be used as a "bridge to surgery" avoiding formation of a stoma and staged operations
- technical and clinical success rates are approximately 80-90% with acceptable morbidity and mortality.

Renal Vascular Access

Vascular access is essential for haemodialysis and the 2006 national report *Organisation and delivery of the vascular access service for maintenance haemodialysis patients* has acknowledged its suboptimal provision in the U.K. Approximately 100 new patients per million population start renal replacement treatment in the U.K. each year and the number is rising rapidly with the increase in diabetes. IR provides considerable support for these patients including imaging and intervention to maintain the function of a fistula, rescuing thrombosed fistulae and placing external central lines for dialysis access if a fistula is lost. This work is recurrent as virtually all access routes fail with time and require repeated revision. The 2006 report described above estimates 2 sessions of consultant IR time per week per 100 haemodialysis patients.

Venous Thrombo Embolic Disease

Interventional radiologists may place filters into the inferior vena cava to prevent thrombus travelling from the lower limbs to the thorax and potentially fatal consequences. Where a pulmonary embolus has occurred IR can be used to effect thrombolysis treatment.

Specification for an IR Service

The delivery of IR services cannot be met by a 'one size fits all' solution. The creation of an imaging network model similar to existing cancer, trauma and stoke networks is possible for IR.

Local services will develop according to the skills of the local workforce and service need. This service specification has been designed to be implemented flexibly to reflect decisions by commissioners and service providers. If there is not a local solution, service providers will want to work together to provide a network of services to deliver comprehensive cover across the range of all IR techniques but principally for the treatment of:

- haemorrhage from trauma, obstetric emergencies, ruptured aortic aneurysms and gastrointestinal bleeding
- fibroids
- renal obstruction
- abscess requiring image guided drainage.
- critical limb ischaemia.
- renal dialysis vascular access
- many cancers for example by liver metastasis therapies and oesophageal and rectal stents.

All acute hospitals will want to develop a formal documented process for access to IR services 24 hours a day, every day. The experience of IR clinicians shows that the following issues need to be addressed to ensure this approach is successful in delivering high quality IR services.

Organisational Commitment

- Board level commitment from both commissioning and provider organisations will be important.
- The presence of a governance structure and clinical leadership which assures quality of service and allows for continuous measurement and improvement.
- A commitment to the development of an IR network that will ensure equality of access for patients to high quality IR.
- Presence of a clinical structure which facilitates the development of IR with the codependent specialties e.g. vascular surgery, obstetrics and gynaecology etc.
- Provision of multi-professional education and training to provide the IR workforce of the future
- Patient and public involvement in developing services to meet patient need.
- Business planning models that recognise the importance of IR and provide revenue streams for service development.

24/7 Service delivery

 Where vascular and non-vascular intervention is to be delivered 24 hours a day every day formal consultant led rotas need to be structured to reflect this. These should allow for the

- provision of immediacy of care for emergencies within the unit or transfer of the patient or key staff within a structured network.
- 24 hour care that allows IR access to co-dependent specialties particularly for network transfers including amongst others critical care/anaesthesia, vascular and upper GI surgery, gastroenterology, renal services and obstetrics.
- Consultant job plans should allow the relevant balance of non IR activities for both part time
 and full time IR specialists to ensure staff develop the necessary spectrum of expertise and
 maintain competency in other aspects of imaging if required.
- On call rotas should ensure that emergency provision should not delay elective IR care for other patients e.g. vascular access, cancer care and elective vascular intervention.
- Advice to the service from NHS clinical advisors already stipulates that protocols should meet the criteria for delivery of IR in trauma within 30 minutes from referral which should be no more than 60 minutes in total from admission, with safe transfer, monitoring and resuscitation facilities.
- Provision of IR infrastructure e.g. fixed angiographic equipment, appropriately located CT and immediate availability of consumable equipment and devices.
- Acknowledgement that the service is delivered by a multidisciplinary team including a radiologist, trained radiographers and nurses with appropriate rotas for all these staff groups.
- Deaneries are responsible for IR training posts and should consider training requirements to provide IR National Training Numbers (NTNs) whilst remaining mindful of the ever increasing demand for diagnostic imaging services.

9-5 Service delivery within a network

- All Trusts delivering IR could be part of a network with network agreed levels of service delivery. This should provide for local delivery of some aspects of IR during the normal working day and IR expertise out of hours across the network.
- Consultant job plans and rotas for individual units and across a network should ensure service delivery for elective and emergency care to minimise delays in intervention which will adversely impact on patient outcomes and length of stay.
- An infrastructure for IR includes nursing and radiographic training and support.
- All elective and emergency intervention that can be conducted by a trained interventional radiologist and has the clinical support of co-dependent specialties should be delivered locally as agreed by the network.
- Interventional teams from across the network would participate in network and national data collection as required.

Network development

- Commissioners should take overall responsibility for ensuring the provision of a high quality IR service for its catchment population.
- A network should be based on a geographical framework based on current referral practice and partnerships.

- All relevant providers could be part of a network but will need an agreed level of service delivery.
- A network could include more than one provider delivering 24/7 IR.
- There needs to be defined governance systems and recognised leadership with clear understanding of the structure, roles and responsibilities of all involved.
- Protocols in all acute Trusts should ensure that patients can access IR services either locally or via a network and that current areas of good practice delivered by skilled radiologists should not be destabilised.
- The network structure should include the continuing professional development (CPD) of all IR staff across the network and provide opportunities for acquiring IR skills and improved service delivery.
- Evidence based network guidelines and protocols for management need to be agreed, regularly updated and communicated throughout the network.
- Effective and safe patient transfer according to agreed protocols of communication within clinical teams need to be in place, regularly updated and communicated throughout the network with full engagement of the ambulance services in network transfer and triage.
- The network should explore outreach solutions for IR services. The decision to transfer a patient or deliver care on site should be made on a case-by-case basis between the on call interventional radiologist and the clinical teams both at the receiving and referring hospitals.
- The network should regularly review patient outcomes and ensure that there are processes in place for identification of network related critical incidents and action plans designed to improve performance.

Providing an out-of-hours interventional radiology service

The evidence contained in the appendices suggests that the quality of IR services at night and over weekends must be the same as that expected during the normal working day. Where out of hours services are being implemented co-ordinated weekend services should be planned for sufficiently large populations to ensure that IR skills are maintained and job plans are acceptable.

As discussed elsewhere in this document there are a number of common factors across the country that may hinder the ability to provide an IR service. Local factors may also be important, particularly for emergency IR work. For example, vascular interventional radiologists will not generally work in a hospital which does not have a vascular surgical unit. This same hospital may have busy gastroenterology and general surgical units and therefore have a requirement for IR for embolisation in internal bleeding, a procedure usually performed by vascular interventional radiologists.

Even for centres which take acute admissions across many medical specialties the provision of out-of-hours IR across the UK is patchy. Commonly cited difficulties in setting up an on call IR service include:

- insufficient numbers of interventional radiologists to allow an acceptable on call rota
- lack of enthusiasm from existing interventional radiologists to commit to a formal on call service because of low numbers
- reluctance of general radiologists for their interventional colleagues to leave the general on call rota. (A significant proportion of IR in the UK is performed by radiologists who also undertake general non-interventional radiology and who are on general radiology on call rotas.)
- insufficient numbers of specialist radiology nurses to support an out-of-hours service
- insufficient numbers of radiographers trained to work in the interventional suite
- no funding stream for the service
- lack of support from managers or other clinical colleagues because of lack of understanding of the importance of emergency IR
- the perception that out-of-hours IR is rarely required and therefore that an ad hoc or 'goodwill' service is acceptable.

Despite these challenges there are centres in the UK that have successfully set up sustainable out-of-hours IR services. Enthusiastic interventional radiologists usually drive this process but the support of their clinical and managerial colleagues is crucial. This seems to be easier in large units with larger staff numbers and these tend to be tertiary referral centres which provide a large range of clinical services. However some smaller acute hospitals have managed to provide effective services too.

Geographical factors are important and the following are examples of existing, sustainable outof-hours IR services in the UK.

- District General Hospital (DGH) with its own IR on call service. Most DGHs do not have a
 sufficiently large pool of interventional radiologists to provide a sustainable service and do
 not have the volume of in-hours work to justify expansion of staffing numbers. Where such
 a service has been provided for example with only three interventional radiologists this has
 been a temporary solution whilst planning to set up a local network. Very onerous on call
 rotas are not sustainable, dangerous, and risk breaching the European Working Time
 Directive.
- federated or networked DGHs. For example where there are two neighbouring DGHs in a
 rural region which are some miles apart but significant distances from tertiary centres. They
 can develop a linked on call service with, for example, six interventional radiologists. Each
 DGH has its own interventional radiographer and nursing cover but the radiologist covers
 both sites out-of-hours. In the majority of cases the radiologist will travel to the patient
 rather than transferring the patient.
- large conurbation with several acute hospitals providing IR in-hours. Out-of-hours the on call interventional radiologist may travel to the patient requiring emergency treatment, the patient may travel to the radiologist's main base or there may a combination depending on the clinical state of the patient. In some centres the IR nurse may also cover several sites on call or each site may provide its own nursing staff. It is most usual for the radiographer to stay at the host site as familiarity with the equipment is essential.
- large tertiary referral centre with between approximately five and eight interventional
 radiologists providing vascular intervention (including embolisation for bleeding etc). There
 are several such centres in the UK and they will often have separate formal on call rotas of
 specialist radiologists covering other non-vascular IR such as nephrostomy insertion. Such
 large centres may receive patients out-of-hours from neighbouring acute hospitals that can
 provide IR in-hours but do not have an out-of-hours service. There will often not be a formal
 referral or funding infrastructure for this.

Payment by Results (PbR) and Activity Data

Healthcare Resource Groups (HRGs) provide a means of categorising the treatment of patients in order to monitor and evaluate the use of resources. A new Interventional Radiology HRG4 chapter has been developed to enable accurate counting and costing of IR activity. In 2010-11 hospitals will be asked to provide reference costs for these new HRGs. There are currently therefore no separate tariffs in PbR for the majority of IR activity, although the cost is included in other HRGs.

IR PbR best practice tariffs (BPTs) have however been developed to incentivise two specific IR procedures:

- 1. Endovascular Aortic Repair
- 2. Uterine Fibroid Embolisation.

The aim of these BPTs is to encourage these procedures, where clinically appropriate, by making them more visible in the payment system; but without incentivising their provision over their open surgery alternatives.

The tariff price will reflect the estimated cost of providing these procedures, and therefore aim to incentivise their provision through adequately reimbursing the costs of provision, without incentivising their provision over the open surgery alternatives where this is not clinically appropriate. From April 2011, for adult renal dialysis there will also be a tariff incentive for the best practice characteristic of definitive vascular access for haemodialysis. This will incentivise provision and maintenance of effective venous access which requires skilled IR clinicians.

Further updates on PbR in 2011-12 can be found at: www.dh.gov.uk/en/Managingyourorganisation/NHSFinancialReforms/index.htm

The PbR guidance for 2010-11 can be found at: www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH 112284

Activity

In the production of this document, we reviewed the activity data from a number of imaging departments with IR services. These included both a geographical spread and representative services from tertiary centres to typical acute Trusts.

It was envisaged that this would help to offer some indicative workload figures. This proved to be problematic and was abandoned as there was inconsistency in the coding and no definitive list of which examinations count as IR. IR coding is among the most complex and presents a unique set of challenges. IR procedures are embedded in the HRGs of other services and it is challenging to separate them. The RCR has worked with the Information Centre and other UK bodies to create new IR HRGs codes which are now in use, with reference costs being collected against them for use in 2010/11.

Radiology departments store their information on Radiology Information Systems (RIS). A RIS is a commercially available product that varies from manufacturer to manufacturer but the core functions are to process requests, schedule exams and generate reports, as well as capture information on procedures performed and interpreted in the radiology department. Information is usually entered on to RIS before the patient examination is undertaken most often by non-clinical staff in order to generate a record. It is not uncommon for there to be a change in the exact procedure carried out from that initially booked onto the system. This is dictated by clinical issues at the time of procedure. In addition, some patients will have more than one diagnostic and/or interventional procedure performed on one occasion. However many older RIS systems do not allow multi-exams to be reported as one composite study from PACS, therefore a number of 'compromise' codes have developed to cover this situation. Hence accounting for IR activity via RIS is inherently inaccurate.

Conclusion

This document illustrates why patients should have access to IR services whether in an acute hospital or provided as part of a network. The geographical variation of IR service provision needs to be tackled if this is to be achieved.

The example below exemplifies the reasons for the changes required. The table describes two real cases admitted on the same day, with the same problem (ruptured aneurysm), but very different outcomes – patient 2 died the day after patient 1 was discharged.

Table1

PATIENT 1

- 24th March 2009 @1325
- 78 years old patient admitted via A+E
- Ruptured AAA diagnosed on CT.
- Shocked
- 1350 in cath lab surgeon has exposed right femoral artery
- 1405 interventional radiologist has inserted a stent graft and occluder
- 1450 surgeon has completed crossover graft.
- Patient goes to HDU for one night
- 25th March goes to vascular ward
- 31st March discharged home

FINANCIAL COSTS

- A&E resuscitation
- CT scan
- Staff
- IR suite
- consumables = £4350,*
- one night HDU cost =£500*
- 6 days ward costs

PATIENT 2

- Same day @ 1425
- 78 year old patient admitted via A+E
- Ruptured AAA diagnosed on CT
- Shocked
- 1430 decision made to perform open repair in theatre
- 1445 arrives in emergency theatre
- 1900 open repair finished and patient arrives in theatre recovery
- 2000 patient arrives ITU
- Patient stays on ITU for 8 days
- 27th March patient requires dialysis
- 1st April patient dies of multiorgan failure

FINANCIAL COSTS

- A&E resuscitation
- CT scan
- Staff
- Emergency theatre
- 8 days ITU at £1800 per day= £14, 400*

^{*}costing based on the same set of data

Comparison of patient outcome, length of stay and cost are examined in more detail in Appendix A under Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm.

Appendix A - Review of the literature

There is an extensive literature demonstrating that appropriate, timely radiology intervention enhances patient safety, patient experience and patient outcomes with proven efficiencies to the service.

The messages from the literature are clear and real cases in which patients benefit from IR are seen on a daily basis.

Aortic Disease

Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms (AAAs)

Population studies indicate that AAAs are common, occurring in about 4% of men older than 65 years. Most are asymptomatic until they present with acute rupture, after which 75% will die before reaching hospital. 40-50% of those admitted to hospital for emergency aneurysm repair will also die. This peri-operative mortality rate has not changed over the last 2 decades.

Population screening began in the UK in 2009 with the intention of reducing death from AAA rupture by increasing the numbers treated electively.

Unruptured AAAs are treated when the diameter exceeds 5.5cm. Two techniques are available; conventional open surgical repair (OSR) and endovascular aneurysm repair (EVAR). EVAR is a minimally invasive procedure undertaken without an abdominal incision requiring image guidance and is commonly done by Interventional Radiologists in collaboration with a Vascular Surgeon. The procedure requires the implantation of a stent-graft into the aneurysm; only approximately 50% of aneurysms have the correct morphology (shape) to allow this to be a treatment option.

Key data

The National Institute for Clinical Effectiveness (NICE) has confirmed in their documents *Stent-graft placement in abdominal aortic aneurysm - guidance* and *Endovascular stent-grafts for the treatment of abdominal aortic aneurysms* that the current data supports the use of EVAR.

Furthermore, in 2005 the National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcomes and Deaths (NCEPOD) report *Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms: A service in need of surgery?* has recommended that all patients who are suitable for EVAR should have this therapy made available to them.

Elective treatment of AAA

Two randomised studies in the UK, the EVAR1 and EVAR2 trials, have investigated the outcomes of AAAs treated by EVAR. The EVAR1 trial compared the outcome of EVAR against

OSR in patients who were suitable for OSR and had suitable morphology for the stent-graft. EVAR 2 looked at EVAR outcomes in a more fragile group of patients who had aneurysms suitable for EVAR but who were not suitable for OSR. This was typically because they had either severe co-morbidity or conditions that make open surgery difficult e.g. previous abdominal surgery.

Within the EVAR1 trial there was a near three-fold reduction in 30 day mortality with the use of EVAR when compared to conventional open surgery. A recent publication shows that in the long-term EVAR has the same benefit with respect to aneurysm-related mortality as OSR. The benefit of EVAR has been confirmed outside the major trials, and the Medicare report on 45,660 patients demonstrated not only the value of the procedure but showed increasing advantage with advancing age. This same study indicated that patients presenting with an AAA were 4 times more likely to die, 7 times more likely to undergo a tracheostomy and 12 times more likely to have lysis of adhesions (the process of cutting scar tissue within the body to restore normal function or appearance) due to bowel obstruction with OSR when compared to EVAR. Almost all data confirm the expectation that EVAR has shorter in-hospital stay, less use of intensive care and reduced blood requirements for the index procedure compared to OSR. The EVAR 2 trial indicated that for patients unsuitable for OSR there was no overall benefit in those treated with EVAR compared to no intervention. Some of this unexpected result may be explained by the delay in treatment resulting in a high death rate prior to EVAR, and by a high procedural death rate not seen in some of the registries. For this reason EVAR continues to be offered to some patients perceived as high risk for OSR.

Emergency treatment of ruptured AAA

The high operative mortality rate for ruptured AAA has stimulated interest in the use of EVAR for this high-risk group. A 2008 systematic review and meta-analysis showed a pooled mortality after EVAR of 21%. Without randomised data it is unclear as to whether this is due to real benefit over OSR, publication bias, or case selection. However a recent publication showed that, following the introduction of EVAR into an urban hospital to manage ruptured AAA, there was a decline in the death rate.

NCEPOD has recognised that a failure to provide 24 hour radiology imaging and IR for these patients puts lives at risk.

Length of Stay (LoS) and Cost

LoS is one major area of benefit in employing IR. The largest data source from the USA indicates a length of stay for routine EVAR of 3.4 +/- 4.7 days compared to 9.3+/- 8.1 days for open repair.

In the UK the saving in LoS is very similar. The largest data set for EVAR is the EUROSTAR registry and the National Vascular Database. These show a LoS for EVAR of 6 days compared

to 13 days for open repair. To acquire contemporary data the HES dataset has been interrogated. This shows a LoS for elective AAA repair in the UK to be 6 days for EVAR compared to 11 days for open repair.

The clinical advantage of EVAR comes at a price. The costs of EVAR are higher than OSR and this is due to the costs of the device, the requirement for continued surveillance, and a continued need for secondary interventions to maintain the stent-graft. It should be noted however that in high risk patients the Ontario London Health Science Centre found EVAR to be a cost effective strategy.

Peripheral Vascular Disease

The management of atherosclerotic peripheral artery disease is a major part of the activity of any vascular unit. Revascularisation of poorly perfused legs is often required using either IR (endovascular) or open surgical techniques. Data from both the USA and UK demonstrate a swing towards the use of endovascular intervention rather than open surgery because it is minimally invasive, requiring less in-patient resource, with fewer major complications, and good clinical outcomes. As such endovascular techniques, particularly angioplasty and stenting, are now seen as the first option in patients with chronic lower limb arterial disease. Data from Hospital Episode Statistics (HES), the Department of Health data warehouse, shows that angioplasty is now performed three times more frequently than open lower limb surgical bypass.

Claudication

Peripheral artery disease (PAD) is common, being present in 7-15% of the middle-aged to elderly population. Claudication describes exercise induced muscle pain due to reduced perfusion of the muscles. This disabling symptom is present in approximately 5% of subjects aged 55 -74 years. PAD becomes markedly more common with age, and with the increasing life expectancy of the population and increasing prevalence of diabetes, the burden of claudication will increase. In addition, these patients have a high risk of stroke and cardiac related death and morbidity.

Key clinical data

Claudication has a relative benign prognosis in terms of limb loss. Unfortunately drugs have little effect upon walking distance and bypass surgery is associated with significant morbidity. The only randomised trial of angioplasty against open surgery demonstrated that endovascular intervention has the same patency and clinical effect as open surgery, but fewer procedural complications.

Exercise therapy and endovascular intervention are now the principal interventions for claudication. Iliac angioplasty and stenting is safe with very little morbidity or mortality associated with the intervention. Whilst exercise therapy is safe, patients are willing to accept

risk of treatment and intervention is more effective and durable in the long term. In addition, the recently published MIMIC trial demonstrated that both iliac and infra-inguinal angioplasty combined with exercise therapy was significantly better than exercise therapy alone.

Claudication significantly affects a patient's quality of life, both physically and socially, and angioplasty and stenting results in a significant durable improvement.

Key cost data

The endovascular management of claudication has been found to be cost-effective. A recent Swedish study concludes that 'the incremental QALYs (quality-adjusted life years) gained by treatment are achieved at a reasonable cost and revascularisation appears to be cost effective'. Unlike surgery, the majority of endovascular interventions for claudication can be undertaken as a day case.

Critical Limb Ischaemia

When the distribution of atherosclerosis becomes severe, limb perfusion falls to such a level that the patient experiences pain at rest, develops ulceration or gangrene, with the leg at risk of amputation. This clinical situation is referred to as critical limb ischaemia (CLI).

Key data

When arterial revascularisation is required for iliac disease the Trans-Atlantic Inter-Society Consensus (TASC) guidelines recommend angioplasty and stent placement for simple (type A & B) lesions. In practice the majority of large units treat all iliac disease where possible by endovascular techniques. There are no randomised trials in CLI comparing endovascular versus open surgical techniques for iliac disease.

For the majority of patients with infrainguinal disease both endovascular techniques and surgical grafts may be used. Subintimal angioplasty has revolutionised the opening of long occlusions. Subintimal angioplasty differs from intraluminal angioplasty. It is performed in the wall of the artery to create a new non-diseased channel underneath the diseased lumen area, whereas traditional angioplasty opens the narrowed lumen. Where this technique is available most patients are now treated using endovascular techniques first rather than open surgery.

In patients where the pattern of disease was thought to be suitable for both angioplasty and open surgery as the first therapy the BASIL trial found that long-term freedom from death and amputation was the same for both strategies. However, there was a longer hospital length of stay (10 days) and more frequent need for Intensive Therapy Unit and High Dependency Unit facilities following surgery. Not surprisingly therefore after one year the hospital costs for surgery are one third higher than an endovascular first strategy. The generalisability of this trial has been questioned because only 15% of patients with CLI due to infrainguinal disease were randomised within the trial.

Surgical grafts have good patency and limb salvage rates but are recognised to be associated with 18% major morbidity, including at least 3% death and a wound infection rate of 25%. Endovascular techniques are therefore attractive in fragile patients. A recent meta-analysis of infrapopliteal angioplasty in CLI was compared with a similar meta-analysis of bypass grafts in CLI. The conclusion was that given the similar limb salvage rates then angioplasty of tibial vessels is a good option for treating this difficult group of patients.

The Severely Injured Patient

Trauma is a major cause of death across all age groups with over 16,000 deaths in England and Wales each year. The ratio of patients surviving to dying has not changed in 30 years for severely injured patients and in the UK is approximately 40%. Indeed as social awareness and policing has reduced road traffic accidents, the number of patients dying in them has risen as a proportion. The mortality rate in the UK is 15% higher than in other developed countries. Because trauma tends to kill the young more years of life are lost by trauma than by cardiovascular disease and cancer together. Thousands of trauma victims remain temporarily or permanently disabled. The primary determinant of survival and better quality of life for such trauma patients is the time from being injured to receiving definitive treatment by either surgery or intervention in a centre with the appropriate specialist staff and equipment. Increased specialisation within radiology and surgery means that the specialist skills and equipment required for trauma patients are not, unfortunately, likely to be available at every hospital. This necessitates re-evaluation of the organisation and delivery of trauma care across the country.

Death from trauma has a trimodal distribution. Many patients die immediately at the scene of the accident. A second early mortality peak occurs within the first 24 hours. Death in both of these groups results from predictable mechanisms - usually injury to the central nervous system and large vessels. Trauma victims who reach hospital alive are at risk of dying from internal haemorrhage during the first hours after admission. The third mortality peak that occurs days or weeks after the event is often the result of poor haemorrhage control and management within the first 24 hours.

The primary objective of early imaging in severely injured patients is the assessment of ongoing internal haemorrhage and of any other immediately life threatening condition. The second objective is to recognise at once all injuries present and to rank them according to their clinical significance. It is essential to the patient's survival that ongoing bleeding from internal injury is ruled out before valuable time is spent imaging non life threatening injuries.

Key data

The 8th edition of the *Advanced Trauma Life Support Guidelines* (ATLS) recommends Embolisation as a primary treatment for haemorrhage as do European guidelines. The conclusions of the National Confidential Enquiry into Perioperative Outcome and Death report on Trauma (NCEPOD) support this recommendation.

A recent study published in 2007 looked at 185 trauma patients managed conventionally as per ATLS protocols and 185 managed by ABC and early multidetector computerised tomography (MDCT). Accurate diagnosis was significantly faster and emergency room occupancy shorter in the group undergoing early MDCT. As a result ITU stays and ventilation days were shorter and rates of organ failure significantly fewer. The conclusion of the study was that in patients with blunt major trauma early MDCT leads to more accurate and faster diagnosis, and reduction of early clinical time intervals. The report also observed a reduction in ventilation, ICU, and hospital days, and in organ failure rates. In one large study the integration of whole-body CT into early trauma care significantly increased the probability of survival in patients with polytrauma. Whole-body CT is recommended as a standard diagnostic method during the early resuscitation phase for patients with polytrauma.

The demonstration of haemorrhage or a site of potential haemorrhage on CT should lead to angiography and then to intervention. The dogma that patients cannot be transferred to angiography is no longer tenable. Surgeons, anaesthetists and radiologists are increasingly aware that intractable bleeding associated with solid organ or pelvic fractures and damage to other arterial structures is best treated by emergency arterial embolisation or stent grafting.

The Kidney

Percutaneous nephrostomy

Percutaneous nephrostomy (PCN) is a procedure in which access to the collecting system of a native or transplanted kidney is obtained through the skin, providing external drainage and/or a portal for additional minimally invasive procedures such as antegrade ureteric stent insertion.

Key clinical data

Percutaneous nephrostomy is most commonly indicated for the treatment of acute kidney injury ((AKI), formerly referred to as 'acute renal failure') secondary to ureteric obstruction, but there are a variety of other acute and non-urgent indications such as drainage of an infected obstructed kidney, access for stone removal or antegrade ureteric stent placement.

Some of these indications do not require a PCN service to be available 24 hours a day. However, infection of the urine in an obstructed kidney (pyonephrosis) usually needs to be treated as an emergency and AKI may also need emergency or urgent PCN. A recent report from the National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death (NCEPOD) reaches the conclusion that; 'access to renal ultrasound and the ability to insert a nephrostomy are vital services and ideally should be available 24 hours a day, 7 days per week'.

A retrospective analysis of 401 patients treated with 569 PCNs over a 5-year period concluded that PCN is a relatively non-invasive procedure associated with high technical success and low morbidity. However, serious complications can occur. An audit of performance of a PCN service found that sepsis was the most serious complication contributing to death or a

significant increase in the level of care required. Risk is greatest after failed instrumentation and particularly if there is a further delay before renal drainage is established.

Key cost data

There are published studies comparing outcomes for PCN and internal ureteric stenting in various clinical settings but no relevant up-to-date comparative costing was identified in the literature reviewed.

Renal Cancer

Renal cancer is a relatively common cancer which is eminently suitable for effective treatment by IR using radiofrequency ablation (up to ~35mm) and by cryoablation (up to 6cm in diameter). This technique may replace the need for invasive partial nephrectomy.

Gastrointestinal Bleeding

Acute GI bleeding is a medical emergency that if not managed acutely and correctly can have a high mortality, reported as high as 42%. Mortality from lower GI bleeding has previously been recorded to be as high as 25%.

Key data

Angiography can be used to localise the site of bleeding. This can be treated by selective transcatheter embolisation. This technique is used in controlling upper GI haemorrhage, usually following unsuccessful endoscopic management; it can achieve high rates of technical success (98%), no rebleeding within 30 days (68-76%), and low complication rates (4-5%). Embolisation has also proved successful for a wide variety of causes of non-variceal upper GI haemorrhage such as pancreatitis and post-surgical bleeding.

A retrospective review of 163 patients with acute upper gastrointestinal haemorrhage and transcatheter embolisation reviewed factors associated with clinical success and concluded such treatment had a positive impact on survival independent of clinical condition.

Acute variceal bleeding, which is most commonly seen in patients with alcoholic liver disease, but is also caused by other conditions, will often continue despite the combination of endoscopic therapy and drug therapy. Expert opinion recommends managing such patients in two stages: initial emergency therapy to arrest the blood loss, and second line therapy to address the underlying cause. Balloon tamponade is a temporary measure that can control massive variceal bleeding which does not respond to endoscopic therapy. Definitive transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunting (TIPS) is performed to stop the bleeding which is refractory to all other attempts at treatment. A recent randomized controlled trial published in the NEJM found that primary TIPS and best medical management versus best medical management (which included endoscopic interventions) resulted in successful control of bleeding, decreased rate of rebleeding and improved mortality without increased complications such as encephalopathy.

Though historically colonoscopy and surgery have been the treatments of choice for lower GI haemorrhage these treatments are now only used where IR is not available. Commonly, accepted management since the late 1990's has been embolisation, often following CT evaluation. This is because multiple studies have identified that superselective embolisation in the treatment of lower GI haemorrhage is associated with high technical success in 89-100% of cases and clinical success rates of 80-91% of cases with much lower complication rates than surgery.

The Liver

Liver disease mortality in the UK is increasing at a time when liver death rates are dropping practically everywhere else in Europe. Over the last 30 years liver disease mortality in young and middle-aged people in the UK has increased at least six-fold and liver admissions and liver deaths are both rising at between 8-10% per year.

High quality, timely IR should form part of the planning and operation of liver transplantation services.

Hepatic Malignancy

Key clinical data

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) causes approximately 1,500 deaths per year in the UK and there is strong evidence from the USA that the incidence of HCC is rising.

At present the only proven potentially curative therapy for HCC remains surgery, either resection or liver transplantation. However there are IR techniques that can affect survival in highly selected patients with good liver reserve. These techniques can also downstage the disease which can then turn the previously inoperable patient into a candidate for resection or transplantation. These include percutaneous ethanol injection (PEI) and chemoembolisation that can both produce tumour necrosis. Transarterial chemoembolisation (TACE) utilises selective catheterisation of the hepatic artery to deliver regional chemotherapy and embolise tumour-feeding arteries.

Injection of 90% ethanol under ultrasound guidance is technically straightforward, inexpensive, safe and depending upon the underlying cirrhosis can result in 5-year survival of up to 50%. Complete tumour necrosis is seen in 70% of tumours less than 3cm in diameter but this falls with increasing size, maybe due to the inability of the injected volume to disperse throughout larger tumours.

Radiofrequency Ablation (RFA) is used in many areas of the body. It works by heating a probe inserted into the tumour. The interventional radiologist uses ultrasound, CT scanning or MRI to guide the percutaneous placement of a long, thin insulated needle into the tumour. The distal

end of the needle is not insulated and emits radio waves. Electrodes are attached to a generator and the electrical energy is converted to heat that kills cells through coagulation necrosis.

RFA is recommended for HCC by NICE provided the selection of the patient is carried out by a multidisciplinary team. RFA for the treatment of HCC is usually performed percutaneously (as apposed to laparoscopically) under image guidance as a day case procedure under conscious sedation. It has less morbidity and mortality than surgery. RFA may be repeated for new or recurrent disease and has a lower complication rate due to its minimally invasive nature. Patients with treatable extrahepatic disease or those with tumours that have been downsized by chemotherapy (but are not resectable) may be considered for ablative therapy.

RCTs have been conducted that compare RFA with PEI. A study in patients with tumours up to 4cm demonstrated that RFA was superior in terms of tumour necrosis and survival, with 3-year survival of 74% versus 51%. Further studies have demonstrated similar advantages for RFA in treating small tumours. In general RFA was associated with fewer sessions to achieve complete tumour necrosis, with no significant differences in morbidity and a likely improvement in survival.

Key cost data

The Ontario Health Technology Assessment carried out in 2004 reported that level 2 evidence suggests that RFA is:

- as safe and perhaps more effective than PEI in treating HCC
- RFA and PEI are more effective and more cost effective than transcatheter arterial embolisation
- RFA is more expensive but more cost effective than PEI
- complications are few but experienced interventional radiologists should carry out the procedure
- RFA may benefit some patients with liver metastases or other primary cancers although published evidence of effectiveness has not yet been established.

Metastatic cancer in the liver

A significantly improved outlook is possible for patients with metastatic colon cancer yielding 5 year survivals up to 33% for inoperable patients using image guided ablation techniques. Such cytoreductive techniques therefore have the potential to work alongside modern chemotherapy to improve outlook or, in the case of small volume metastatic disease, to replace resection.

Trauma, bleeding and Infection

Key clinical data

For trauma to the liver, and in haemodynamically unstable patients with liver injuries embolisation is an adjunctive therapy for patients with ongoing haemorrhage. In Norway a review of outcomes for 114 patients with liver injury before, and after, the introduction of embolisation in trauma services showed a survival rate that was stable at 89-90% (in the UK survival rate for comparable patients is 78%). There was also a reduction in laparotomy rates from 58% to 34% and complication rates were lowered by 40%. Mohr et al also examined the medical records of 37 consecutive patients admitted from 1995 to 2002 who underwent hepatic angiography with the intent to embolise. They found that patients who underwent early angiographic embolisation (AE) received significantly fewer blood transfusions and only 26% of patients required liver-related surgery after AE.

Zheng et al conducted a meta-analysis of the effects of transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt (TIPS) for the reduction of variceal bleeding (VRB). Most of the RCTs reviewed were judged to be of high quality and they concluded that TIPS is currently the first choice to prevent rebleeding. Active surveillance with ultrasound is required to ensure early detection and treatment of TIPS dysfunction but this has improved significantly since the introduction of covered stent-grafts. There is a risk of post procedure encephalopathy associated with TIPS so alternative interventions for variceal bleeding should be investigated to minimise risk.

Kurmis reported results in a small series, over 9 years from a single centre compared to those published in the literature. They carried out retrospective case note review of 20 consecutive TIPSS procedures from Jan 1997 to Dec 2005. There were no peri-procedure deaths; however, 90 day mortality was 20%. TIPSS dysfunction rate was 35% at 1 year. TIPSS procedure outcomes are similar to those reported in the literature from large centres. TIPSS patency rates may be improved with regular monitoring and early intervention when stenosis occurs.

Uterine Disease

Uterine Fibroids

Symptomatic fibroids are a common gynaecological condition. There is no long term effective medical treatment. In the UK, women have a one in five chance of having a hysterectomy by the age of 55 with around one third due to fibroids.

Hysterectomy has been recommended as the gold standard by which other treatments are assessed, as it removes the source of the symptoms. However, hysterectomy is a major surgical procedure with a small but significant major morbidity and mortality.

Uterine Artery Embolisation (UAE), also called Uterine Fibroid Embolisation (UFE) is an alternative to hysterectomy. It is an image-guided technique which blocks the blood supply to uterine fibroids causing them to shrink and become asymptomatic. A small catheter is introduced via the common femoral artery under local anaesthetic and using x-ray guidance the catheter is manipulated into the uterine arteries on both sides and an embolic agent is injected to occlude them. The procedure is carried out by an interventional radiologist under sedation.

Over 100,000 cases of UAE have been performed worldwide since its first description as a stand-alone procedure in 1995. Recent published guidelines support the use of UAE as an alternative to myomectomy (surgical removal of fibroids) and hysterectomy in women who have symptomatic fibroids less than 3 cm in size.

UAE is reported to be only available in forty-eight NHS and three private hospitals in the UK. Most of the availability is in London and the South East of England. Out of an estimated total of 2,050 UAE procedures for fibroids performed in the UK to date, only 200 (10%) have been performed outside London or the South East.

Key clinical data

In 2004, NICE supported the use of UAE as an alternative to myomectomy and hysterectomy in women who have symptomatic fibroids smaller than 3 cm and where there is a desire to maintain the uterus. In 2007, NICE gave their support for the use of UAE for heavy menstrual bleeding where the indication is fibroids smaller than 3 cm in diameter. The guidelines suggest UAE as a first-line treatment if there are other significant symptoms including pain. The procedure is particularly recommended for women who want to retain their uterus and/or avoid surgery.

In 2006, a study examined the long-term outcomes of UAE in 172 women. All women were between 5 and 7 years post UAE and showed satisfactory, subjective improvement in menstrual flow and fibroid-related symptoms. The study reported that UAE was associated with a low risk of complication, a high satisfaction rate from patients and only a 16% risk of requiring a subsequent procedure for fibroids.

The Randomised Control Trial of Embolisation versus Surgical Treatment for Fibroids (REST) Working Group (2007) examined RCTs in 27 UK hospitals where women were assigned in groups from November 2000 to May 2004. They concluded that UAE is associated with significantly faster recovery (including resumption of usual activities). A 12 month follow up was completed in Sept 2005. One hundred and fifty seven women were randomly assigned to UAE (n=106) or surgery (n=51) with symptomatic fibroids. At 12 months it was reported that the percentage of women who would recommend their treatment to a friend was high in both treatment groups. The median hospital stay after UAE was significantly shorter than that after surgery (1 day vs. 5 days) and the median time until patients could resume all recorded activities was significantly lower in the UAE group. At 12 months there was no difference in

quality of life measures, although 10 out of 106 in the UAE group had required a secondary intervention for persistent or recurrent symptoms.

A study involving 28 Dutch hospitals compared hysterectomy with UAE for treatment of menorrhagia caused by uterine fibroids in 177 patients randomised to UAE (n=88) or hysterectomy (n=89) and concluded that UAE is a valuable alternative treatment for symptomatic uterine fibroids, but when patients seek absolute certainty for a cessation of bleeding problems, then hysterectomy remains the treatment of choice.

The 2007 HOPEFUL study reported the outcome of a multicentre, retrospective cohort study that compared the experiences of two representative groups of women who had either hysterectomy (n=450) or UAE (n=649) with an average follow up of 4.6 years. More women in the hysterectomy cohort reported relief from fibroid symptoms (96% versus 85%) and feeling better (96% versus 84%) but that fewer complications were experienced by women receiving UAE (19% versus 26% hysterectomy). There was a 23% chance of requiring further treatment for fibroids after UAE. Twenty-seven women who had UAE reported 37 pregnancies after treatment resulting in 19 live births.

Key cost data

Economic modelling indicates that UAE is a cost effective treatment with significant savings over open surgery at one year with older patients being less likely to require re-intervention. Wu et al (2007) agreed that UAE was the less costly option and could be highly cost effective for women who preferred to keep their uterus. Their base case analysis illustrated that UAE was associated with substantially lower mean cost £1,677 for UAE versus £3,282 for hysterectomy.

Post Partum Haemorrhage

Primary PPH is the most common form of major obstetric haemorrhage within 24 hours of the birth of a baby. Secondary PPH is defined as abnormal or excessive bleeding from 24 hours to 12 weeks postnatal. In developed countries 2% of postnatal women are admitted to hospital with this condition, half of them undergoing uterine surgical evacuation.

Haemorrhage remains a significant cause of maternal mortality in the UK and it is the third highest direct cause of maternal death. Haemorrhage is also the major cause of severe maternal morbidity in almost all "near miss" audits in both developed and developing countries. The 2004 Confidential Enquiry into Maternal and Child Health noted that maternal death from haemorrhage had increased. The Health Care Commission reported on the maternal deaths at the unit in the Northwick Park Hospital in 2006 and identified a lack of IR as being a factor in a number of unexpected maternal deaths.

Arterial embolisation and other endovascular techniques have become the second line therapeutic option for the management of intractable obstetrical and gynaecologic bleeding. It

is a fast, safe, and effective minimally invasive alternative to hysterectomy when medical treatment fails to control uterine bleeding. Moreover, it preserves the uterus with little or no significant impact on future pregnancies or fertility.

Key clinical data

A small study looked at 10 women with PPH (n=7) and post abortion haemorrhage (n=3). The vaginal bleeding resolved in all patients without any ischaemic complications after eight underwent UAE. Microcoil devascularisation was performed in the remaining two patients. At follow up all patients who underwent UAE had normal menstruation and three subsequently gave birth to full term health babies.

A further study followed up 31 patients who had had UAE for PPH. Their results suggest that women who undergo arterial embolisation for obstetric haemorrhage should expect to have a return of normal menses with preservation of future fertility and successful uneventful pregnancies.

Systematic reviews looking at all RCTs of treatment for primary PPH found that selective radiological embolisation of the bleeding vessel is a successful therapeutic option but a Cochrane review in 2008, found no information available from RCTs to inform the management of women with secondary PPH.

Appendix B – Case Studies

Emergency drainage for treatment of abscess by an on call interventional radiologist

An elderly lady was admitted on a Saturday morning to ITU septic and unstable with a collection of pus in the gallbladder. She was considered too unwell for open surgery. The non-interventional radiologist on call for this weekend had not done an ultrasound-guided drain insertion for several years. The on call interventional radiologist inserted a percutaneous drain under ultrasound guidance. Within a couple of days the patient was well enough to be transferred to the general surgical ward.

This was a life-saving procedure that had to be done and the general radiologist was able to have an interventional colleague to call upon to perform it. With an established interventional on call service non-interventional radiologists have a formal process for arranging and performing abscess drainages or nephrostomy insertions on sick patients at the weekend and during the evenings.

Emergency interventional radiology for post partum haemorrhage

A 23 year-old female had a healthy child delivered by caesarean section. She bled post-operatively and went back to theatre. She continued to bleed and required 24 units of blood. The on call IR team was called at approx 02.45hrs and an angiogram revealed a bleeding vessel which was embolised. There was no further uterine bleeding. The procedure took 15 minutes and the patient rapidly stabilised requiring no further treatment. She now plans to have a third child.

Without IR the likely outcome would have been hysterectomy.

Emergency stent graft insertion requiring patient transfer to a specialist IR unit

A middle-aged patient underwent laparoscopic hernia repair in a rural district general hospital. She became hypotensive during the procedure. This was attributed to an anaesthetic reaction and the procedure was abandoned. She was discharged that day. A few days later, on a Friday evening, she presented to the emergency department with abdominal pain. Emergency CT showed an acute traumatic fistula between the aorta and the inferior vena cava.

The patient was transferred by air ambulance early on the Saturday morning to the nearest centre where there was availability of on call vascular surgery and IR. The surgeon and radiologist together inserted an aortic stent-graft, successfully sealing the fistula.

Trauma and the need for a full on call IR team

A 36 year-old male was involved in a road traffic accident on a Sunday evening and suffered multiple pelvic fractures. He was haemodynamically unstable and embolisation was considered. There was no formal IR on call service but the radiologists were happy to attend on an 'ad hoc' basis. One of the consultant radiologists was contacted. He was able to find a willing radiographer but none of the radiology nurses were available. The interventional radiologist was therefore not able to carry out the procedure.

The patient underwent a laparotomy and pelvic packing. He remained unstable overnight. By this point the patient had received large volumes of blood products. The ITU consultant commented that they did not expect the patient to survive for more than a few hours. Embolisation was performed on the Monday morning by an interventional radiologist and fully trained team following which he became haemodynamically stable. After a long period of rehabilitation the patient was discharged home.

GI Bleeding and integrated services with IR involvement

A 75 year-old man, who had recently undergone a coronary artery bypass graft, was admitted with bright red rectal bleeding at midnight, and was unstable and hypotensive.

The patient had an emergency CT scan which showed rectal bleeding. He was transferred to the IR suite where embolisation of the bleeding point was undertaken. He was discharged home 3 days later slightly anaemic on iron supplements.

The case was discussed at an MDT meeting. Failure to perform proctoscopy by the junior surgical staff was discussed. It was recognised that with the associated co-morbidity this patient was still best managed by minimally invasive embolisation.

A review of the literature and review of the unit's data were presented at the Trust weekly surgical conference. Amendments to the surgical protocol for the management of life threatening GI bleed were instituted.

Appendix C – References

A Adam and P Mueller (Editors) *Interventional Radiological Treatment of Liver Tumours*. Cambridge University Press. 2009. ISBN: 9780521886871

Adam DJ, Beard JD, Cleveland T, Bell J, Bradbury AW, Forbes JF, et al. *Bypass versus angioplasty in severe ischaemia of the leg (BASIL): multicentre, randomised controlled trial.* Lancet. 2005; 366(9501):1925-34.

Albers M, Romiti M, Brochado-Neto FC, Pereira CA. *Meta-analysis of alternate autologous vein bypass grafts to infrapopliteal arteries*. Journal of Vascular Surgery. 2005 Sep; 42(3):449-55.

Alexander J, Thomas PW, Sanghera J, *Treatments for secondary postpartum haemorrhage* (Review) The Cochrane Collaboration 2008 issue 2

American College of Surgeons Committee on Trauma *Advanced Trauma Life Support for Doctors* 8th Edition, 2005.

Ashton HA, Buxton MJ, Day NE, Kim LG, Marteau TM, Scott RA, et al. *The Multicentre Aneurysm Screening Study (MASS) into the effect of abdominal aortic aneurysm screening on mortality in men: a randomised controlled trial.* Lancet. 2002 Nov 16; 360(9345):1531-9.

Bandi R, Shetty PC, Sharma RP, Burke TH, Burke MW, Kastan D. *Superselective arterial embolization for the treatment of lower gastrointestinal hemorrhage*. Journal of Vascular and Interventional Radiology 2001; 12 (12):1399- 405.

Beattie GC, MacDonald A, Powell JJ, Redhead D, Siriwardena AK. *Angiographic embolisation for major haemorrhage after upper gastrointestinal surgery*. British Journal of Surgery 2000; 87(3):362-73.

Blatchford O, Davidson LA, Murray WR, Blatchford M, Pell J. Acute upper gastrointestinal haemorrhage in west of Scotland: case ascertainment study. BMJ 1997; 315(7107):510-4.

Bleau BL, Gostout Cj, Sherman KE, Shaw Mj, Harford WV, Keate Vogten jM, Overtoom TT, Lely Rj, quispel R, de Vries JP. *Superselective coil embolisation of arterial oesophageal haemorrhage*. Journal of Vascular and Interventional Radiology 2007 18(6):771-3.

Bosch JL, van der Graaf Y, Hunink MG. Health-related quality of life after angioplasty and stent placement in patients with iliac artery occlusive disease: results of a randomized controlled clinical trial. The Dutch Iliac Stent Trial Study Group. Circulation. 1999 Jun 22; 99(24):3155-60.

Bosch JL, Tetteroo E, Mali WP, Hunink MG. *Iliac arterial occlusive disease: cost-effectiveness analysis of stent placement versus percutaneous transluminal angioplasty.* Dutch Iliac Stent Trial Study Group. Radiology. 1998 Sep; 208(3):641-8

British Association for the Study of the Liver, 2009 http://www.basl.org.uk/

Buttram VC, Reiter RC. *Uterine leiomyomata: etiology, symptomatology, and management.* Fertil Steril. 1981 Oct; 36(4):433-45.

Cassar K, Bachoo P, Brittenden J. *The effect of peripheral percutaneous transluminal angioplasty on quality of life in patients with intermittent claudication.* European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery. 2003; 26(2):130-6.

Chalmers N, Jones K, Drinkwater K, Uberoi R, Tawn J. *RCR/BSIR Nephrostomy Audit Clinical Radiology*. 2008; 63(8):888-94

Chambers D, Fayter D, Paton F, Woolacott N. *Use of non-randomised evidence alongside randomised trials in a systematic review of endovascular aneurysm repair: strengths and limitations*. European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery. 2010; 39(1):26-34.

Chung J, Bartelson BB, Hiatt WR, Peyton BD, McLafferty RB, Hopley CW, et al. *Wound healing and functional outcomes after infrainguinal bypass with reversed saphenous vein for critical limb ischemia.* Journal of Vascular Surgery. 2006 Jun; 43(6):1183-90.

Clark TW. Management of shunt dysfunction in the era of TIPS endografts. Tech Vasc Interv Radiol. 2008 11 (4):212-6

Cochrane Database Systematic Review Surgical approach to hysterectomy for benign gynaecological disease. 2005; (1):CD003677.

Coleman P, Ayiku L. Systematic review of the efficacy and safety of uterine artery embolisation in the treatment of fibroids. Sheffield: Review Body for Interventional Procedures; 2004.Commissioned by the National Institute for Clinical Excellence.

Constantina Chrysochou, Philip A. Kalra *Current Management of Atherosclerotic Renovascular Disease – What Have We Learned from ASTRAL?* Nephron Clin Practice 2010;115:c73–c81

Cook T, O'Regan M, Galland R. Quality of life following percutaneous angioplasty for claudication. European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery. 1996; 11:191-4

Conte MS, Bandyk DF, Clowes AW, Moneta GL, Seely L, Lorenz TJ, et al. Results of PREVENT III: a multicenter, randomized trial of edifoligide for the prevention of vein graft

failure in lower extremity bypass surgery. Journal of Vascular Surgery. 2006 Apr; 43(4):742-51; discussion 51.

Cramer SF, Patel A *The frequency of uterine leiomyomas.* Am J Clin Pathol. 1990 Oct; 94(4):435-8

Defreyne L, Vanlangenhove P, Decruyenaere j, Van Maele G, De Vos M, Troisi R, et al. Outcome of acute nonvariceal gastrointestinal haemorrhage after nontherapeutic arteriography compared with embolization. European Radiology 2003; 13(12):2604-14.

Defreyne L, Vanlangenhove P, De Vos M, Pattyn P, Van Maele G, Decruyenaere j, et al. *Embolisation as a first approach with endoscopically unmanageable acute nonvariceal gastrointestinal hemorrhage.* Radiology 2001; 218 (3):739-48.

Department of Health Delivering Quality Imaging Services for Children – A Report from the National Imaging Board. 2010: Gateway Ref 13732 (Crown Copyright)

Department of Health Equity and excellence: Liberating the NHS, 2010, (Crown Copyright.)

Department of Health Hospital Episode Stats England http://www.official-documents.co.uk/document/doh/wmd/wmdt4-1.htm

Department of Health *Interventional radiology: improving quality and outcomes for patients. A report from the National Imaging Board*, 2009 Gateway ref 12788 (Crown Copyright)

DePerrot M, Berney T, Bühler L, Delgadillo X, Mentha G, Morel P. *Management of bleeding pseudoaneurysms in patients with pancreatitis*. British Journal of Surgery 1999; 86 (1):29-32.

DeRubertis BG, Faries PL, McKinsey JF, Chaer RA, Pierce M, Karwowski J, et al. *Shifting paradigms in the treatment of lower extremity vascular disease: a report of 1000 percutaneous interventions.* Annals of Surgery. 2007 Sep; 246(3):415-22; discussion 22-4.

Descargues G, Mauger Tinlot F, Douvrin F, Clavier E, Lemoine JP, Marpeau I. *Menses, fertility and pregnancy after arterial embolisation for the control of postpartum haemorrhage.* Human reproduction. 2004: 19:2; 339-343

d'Othee Bj, Surapaneni P, Rabkin D, Nasser I, Clouse M. *Microcoil embolization for acute lower gastrointestinal bleeding*. Cardiovascular Interventional Radiology 2006; 29 (1):49-58

Dormann A, Meisner S, Verin N et al. *Self-expanding metal stents for gastroduodenal malignancies: systematic review of their clinical effectiveness.* Endoscopy 2004;36:543-50

Doumouchtsis SK, Papageorghiou AT, Arulkumaran S. Systematic review of conservative management of postpartum hemorrhage: what to do when medical treatment fails Obstet Gynecol Surv 2007;62:540-547

Drife J. Management of primary postpartum haemorrhage Br.J.Obs&Gynae 1997;104:275-277

Dutton S, Hirst A, McPherson K, Nicholson T, Maresh M, A UK multi-centre retrospective cohort study comparing hysterectomy and uterine artery embolisation for the treatment of symptomatic uterine fibroids. (HOPEFUL study): main results on medium term safety and efficacy. BJOG 2007; 114: 1340-1351

Edozian L. Hysterectomy for Benign Conditions BMJ 2005; 330:1457-8

EVAR trial participants. *Endovascular aneurysm repair versus open repair in patients with abdominal aortic aneurysm (EVAR trial 1): randomised controlled trial.* Lancet. 2005 Jun 25-Jul 1; 365(9478):2179-86.

EVAR trial participants. Endovascular aneurysm repair and outcome in patients unfit for open repair of abdominal aortic aneurysm (EVAR trial 2): randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2005 Jun 25-Jul 1; 365(9478):2187-92.

Fluck R, Kumwenda M *Clinical practice guidelines. Vascular access for haemodialysis.* UK Renal Association 5th Edition, 2008-2010 First Draft Version www.renal.org/guidelines

Gaines P, Moss JG, Kinsman R. *The British Society of Interventional Radiology Second BIAS report.* Henley-on-Thames, Oxfordshire: Dendrite Clinical Systems Ltd; 2005.

Gelin J, Jivegard L, Taft C, Karisson J, Sullivan M, Dahllof A-G, et al. *Treatment efficacy of intermittent claudication by surgical intervention, supervised physical exercise training compared to no treatment in unselected randomised patients1: One year results of functional and physiological improvements.* European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery. 2001; 22(2):107-13.

Greenhalgh RM, Belch JJ, Brown LC, Gaines PA, Gao L, Reise JA, et al. *The adjuvant benefit of angioplasty in patients with mild to moderate intermittent claudication (MIMIC) managed by supervised exercise, smoking cessation advice and best medical therapy: results from two randomised trials for stenotic femoropopliteal and aortoiliac arterial disease.* European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery. 2008 Dec; 36 (6):680-8.

Hausegger KA, Portugaller HR. *Percutaneous Nephrostomy and antegrade ureteral stenting: technique-indications-complications*. Eur Radiol. Sep 2006; 16(9):2016-30

Healthcare Commission Investigation into 10 maternal deaths at, or following delivery at, Northwick Park Hospital, North West London Hospitals NHS Trust, between April 2002 and April 2005. 2006

Hirst A, Dutton S, Wu O, Briggs A, Edwards C, Waldenmaier L, Maresh M, Nicholson A, McPherson K. *A multi-centre retrospective cohort study comparing the efficacy, safety and cost-effectiveness of hysterectomy and uterine artery embolisation for the treatment of symptomatic uterine fibroids*. Health Technol Assess. 2008 Mar;12(5):1-248

Hong TM, Tseng HS, Lee RC, Wang JH, Chang CY. *Uterine artery embolisation: An effective treatment for intractable obstetric haemorrhage*. Clin Radiol 2004; 59:96-101.

Huber-Wagner S et al Effect of whole-body CT during trauma resuscitation on survival: a retrospective, multicentre study Lancet 2009;373:1399-1494

Imdahl, A. *Genesis and pathophysiology of lower gastrointestinal bleeding* Langenbeck's Archives of Surgery Volume 2001; 386, Pub Springer Berlin / Heidelberg.

Intensive-Care National Audit Research Centre 2005 www.icnarc.org

Jalan R, Hayes PC. *UK guidelines on the management of variceal haemorrhage in cirrhotic patients. London:* British Society for Gastroenterology 2000. http://www.bsg.org.uk/pdfworddocs/varihae.pdf

Jalan R, John T, Redhead D, Garden O, Simpson K, Finlayson N, et al. *A comparative study of emergency transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic stent-shunt and esophageal transection in the management of uncontrolled variceal hemorrhage*. American Journal of Gastroenterology 1995;90(11):1932-7

Johnson N, Barlow D, Lethaby A, Tavender E, Curr E, Garr y R. *Methods of hysterectomy:* systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ 2005; 330:1478-81

Juan Carlos García-Pagán, Karel Caca, Christophe Bureau, Wim Laleman, Beate Appenrodt, Angelo Luca, Juan G. Abraldes, Frederik Nevens, Jean Pierre Vinel, Joachim Mössner, and Jaime Bosch, for the Early TIPS (Transjugular Intrahepatic Portosystemic Shunt) Cooperative Study Group *Early Use of TIPS in Patients with Cirrhosis and Variceal Bleeding* N Engl J Med 2010; 362:2370-2379.

Keeling WB, Armstrong PA, Stone PA, Zweibel BR, Kudryk BT, Johnson BL, et al. *Risk factors for recurrent hemorrhage after successful mesenteric arterial embolization.* American Journal of Surgery 2006; 72 (9):802-6

Klebl FH, Bregenzer N, Schofer L, Tamme W, Langgartner j, Scholmerich j, et al. *Comparison of inpatient & outpatient upper gastrointestinal haemorrhage*. International Journal of Colorectal Disease 2005; 20 (4):368-75.

Knight M, Kurinczuk JJ, Spark P,Brocklehurst P. Cesarean Delivery and Peripartum Hysterectomy Am Coll of Obs & Gyne 2008: 111:1 97-105

Konstantinos Katsanos, Farhan Ahmad, Renato Dourado, Tarun Sabharwal, and Andreas Adam *Interventional radiology in the elderly* Clin Interv Aging. 2009; 4: 1-15. Published online 2009 May 14

Kudo T, Chandra FA, Ahn SS. *The effectiveness of percutaneous transluminal angioplasty for the treatment of critical limb ischemia: a 10-year experience.* Journal of Vascular Surgery. 2005 Mar 41(3):423-35; discussion 35.

Kurmis TP *Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt: an analysis of outcomes.* ANZ J Surg. 2009 Oct; 79(10):745-9

Lederle FA. *Abdominal aortic aneurysm--open versus endovascular repair.* The New England Journal of Medicine. 2004 Oct 14; 351(16):1677-9.

Lencioni R, Cioni D, Crocetti L, Franchini C et al Early Stage Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Patients with Cirrhosis: Long-term Results of Percutaneous Image-guided Radiofrequency Ablation Radiology. 2005 234:961-967

Letterstal A, Forsberg C, Olofsson P, Wahlberg E. *Risk attitudes to treatment among patients with severe intermittent claudication.* Journal of Vascular Surgery. 2008 May; 47(5):988-94.

Leville C, Kashyap V, Clair D, Bena J, Lyden S, Greenberg R, et al. *Endovascular* management of iliac artery occlusions: extending treatment to TransAtlantic Inter-Society Consensus class C and D patients. Journal of Vascular Surgery. 2006; 43:32-9.

Lewis, S, & Patel, U. *Major complications after percutaneous Nephrostomy – Lessons from a department audit.* Clinical Radiology. 2004, 59:2, 171-179

Longstreth GF. Epidemiology and outcome of patients hospitalised with acute lower gastrointestinal hemorrhage: a population-based study. American Journal of Gastroenterology 1997; 92 (3):419-24.

Lucarotti M, Shaw E, Poskitt K, Heather B. *The Gloucestershire Aneurysm Screening Programme: the first 2 years' experience.* European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery. 1993 Jul; 7(4):397-401.

LM Marshall, D Spiegelman, RL Barbieri, MB Goldman, JE Manson, GA Colditz, WC Willett, DJ Hunter. *Variation in the incidence of uterine leiomyoma among premenopausal women by age and race* Obstet. Gynecol., Dec 1997; 90: 967 - 973.

McCaslin JE, Hafez HM, Stansby G. Lower-limb revascularization and major amputation rates in England. British Journal of Surgery. 2007 Jul; 94(7):835-9.

Mastracci TM, Garrido-Olivares L, Cina CS, Clase CM. *Endovascular repair of ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysms: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Journal of Vascular Surgery. 2008 Jan; 47(1):214-21

Medical Advisory Secretariat. Radio frequency ablation for primary liver cancer: an evidence-based analysis. Ontario Health Technology Assessment Series 2004; 4(8)

Michaels JA, Drury D, Thomas SM. Cost-effectiveness of endovascular abdominal aortic aneurysm repair. British Journal of Surgery. 2005 Aug; 92 (8):960-7.

Mohr Alicia M. Lavery Robert F. Barone Allison, Bahramipour Philip, Magnotti, Louis J. Osband, Adena J. Sifri, Ziad Livingston, David H. *Angiographic Embolization for Liver Injuries: Low Mortality, High Morbidity* Journal of Trauma-Injury Infection & Critical Care: 2003.55: 6 1077-1082

Montgomery RS, Rahal A, Dodd GD, Leyendecker JR, Hubbard GR Radiofrequency Ablation of Hepatic Tumors: Variability of Lesion Size Using a Single Ablation Device AJR 2004; 182:657-661

Morse A. Comptroller and Auditor General, *Major trauma care in England* 2010 London: The Stationery Office

Mousa HA Alfirevic Z *Treatment for postpartum haemorrhage (Review).* The Cohrane Collaboration Issue 1 2009.

Muradin GS, Myriam Hunink MG. Cost and patency rate targets for the development of endovascular devices to treat femoropopliteal arterial disease. Radiology. 2001 Feb; 218(2):464-9.

National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death *Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms: A service in need of surgery? A report of the National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcomes and Deaths* 2005. NCEPOD

National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death: *Adding Insult to injury.* 2009 NCEPOD

National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death Emergency Admissions: *A journey in the right direction?* 2007. NCEPOD

National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death. *Trauma-Who Cares?* December 2007. NCEPOD

National Confidential Enquiry into Maternal and Child Health. (2004) Why mothers die 2000 to 2002. RCOG: London.

National Imaging Board. *Imaging for acute kidney injury (acute renal failure).*Recommendations from the National Imaging Board, London. Draft, final publication expected 2010

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence *Heavy Menstrual Bleeding* (NICE Clinical Guideline 44) London: NICE, 2007

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. *Uterine artery embolisation for the treatment of fibroids*. Interventional Procedure Guidance 94. London: NICE 2004

National Institute for Clinical Excellence, Interventional Procedure Guidance 2 Radiofrequency Ablation for Hepatocellular Carcinoma, 2003: NICE London

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence Interventional Procedure Guidance 163 *Stent-graft placement in abdominal aortic aneurysm.* 2006.

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence Technology Appraisal 167 *Endovascular* stent-grafts for the treatment of abdominal aortic aneurysms. 2009.

National Vascular Database http://www.vascularsociety.org.uk/national-vascular-database.html

NHS Clinical Advisory Group Regional Networks for Major Trauma NHS Clinical Advisory Groups Report, 2010

http://www.excellence.eastmidlands.nhs.uk/welcome/improving-care/emergency-urgent-care/major-trauma/nhs-clinical-advisory-group/

Nicholson AA. Ettles DF. Hartley JE. Curzon I. Lee PW. Duthie GS. Monson JR. *Transcatheter coil embolotherapy: a safe and effective option for major colonic haemorrhage.* Gut 1998; 48:79-84

Nicholson T, Travis S, Ettles D, Dyet j, Sedman P, Wedgewood K, et al. *Hepatic artery angiography and embolization for hemobilia following laparoscopic cholecystectomy.*Cardiovascular Interventional Radiology 1999; 22 (1):20-4.

N'Kontchou G, Mahamoudi A, Aout M, Ganne-Carrie N et al *Radiofrequency ablation of hepatocellular carcinoma: long-term results and prognostic factors in 235 Western patients with cirrhosis.* Hepatology. 2009;50 (5):1475-83

Norgren L, Hiatt WR, Dormandy JA, Nehler MR, Harris KA, Fowkes FG. *Inter-Society Consensus for the Management of Peripheral Arterial Disease (TASC II)*. Journal of Vascular Surgery. 2007 Jan; 45 Suppl S: S5-67.

Norgren L, Hiatt WR, Dormandy JA, Nehler MR, Harris KA, Fowkes FG, et al. *Inter-Society Consensus for the Management of Peripheral Arterial Disease (TASC II)*. European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery. 2007; 33 Suppl 1:S1-75.

O J Garden, M Rees, G J Poston, D Mirza, M Saunders, J Ledermann, J N Primrose, R W Parks *Guidelines for resection of colorectal cancer liver metastases* Gut 2006;55:iii1-iii8 doi:10.1136/gut.2006.098053

Pryor J, Braslow B, Reilly P, et al, *The evolving role of interventional radiology in trauma care.* Journal of Trauma-Injury Infection & Critical Care 2005; 59:102-104

Radecka, E. & Magnusson, A. Complications associated with percutaneous nephrostomies. A retrospective study. Acta Radiologica April 2004, Vol 45, issue 2, pp 184-8

Rana, A.M., Zaidi, Z & Salman-El, K. Single centre review of fluoroscopy-guided percutaneous nephrostomy performed by urologic surgeons. Journal of Endourology. July 2007, Vol. 21, issue 7, pp 688-691

Report of a joint working party (The Renal Association, C G Winearls & R Fluck, The Vascular Society, D C Mitchell & C P Gibbons, British Society of Interventional Radiology, D Kessel & J G Moss) *The organisation and delivery of the vascular access service for maintenance haemodialysis patients* 2006.

Rima A, Oliva VLMD, Therasse EMD, Perreault PMD, Bui BTMD, Dufresne M-PMD, et al. *Arterial Embolotherapy for Upper Gastrointestinal Hemorrhage: Outcome Assessment.* Journal of Vascular and Interventional Radiology 2001; 12 (2):195-200

Ripoll C, Banares R, Beceiro I, Menchen P, Catalina MV, Echenagusia A, et al. *Comparison of transcatheter arterial embolization and surgery for treatment of bleeding peptic ulcer after endoscopic treatment failure.* Journal of Vascular and Interventional Radiology 2004;15 (5):447-50

Rockall TA, Logan RF, Devlin HB, Northfield TC. *Incidence of and mortality from acute upper gastrointestinal haemorrhage in the United Kingdom.* Steering Committee and members of the

National Audit of Acute Upper Gastrointestinal Haemorrhage. British Medical Journal 1995; 311(6999):222-6.

Romiti M, Albers M, Brochado-Neto FC, Durazzo AE, Pereira CA, De Luccia N. *Meta-analysis of infrapopliteal angioplasty for chronic critical limb ischemia*. Journal of Vascular Surgery. 2008 May; 47(5):975-81.

Rolf Rossaint1, Bertil Bouillon2, Vladimir Cerny et al *Management of bleeding following major trauma: an updated European guideline*. Critical Care 2010;14: R52

Ryder S, Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in adults Gut 2003;52 (Suppl III):iii1–iii8

Saad, W.E. A., Moorthy, M & Ginat, D. *Percutaneous Nephrostomy: native and transplanted kidneys.* Techniques in Vascular and Interventional Radiology. September 2009. Vol. 12, issue 3, pp 1089-2516.

Salazar GMM, Petrozza JC, Walker TG. *Transcatheter endovascular techniques for management of obstetrical and gynecologic emergencies* Tech Vasc Interv Radiol. 2009 Jun; 12(2):139-47.

Schenker MP, Duszak R, jr., Soulen MC, Smith KP, Baum RA, Cope C, et al. *Upper gastrointestinal hemorrhage and transcatheter embolotherapy: clinical and technical factors impacting success and survival.* Journal of Vascular and Interventional Radiology 2001;12 (11):1263-71.

Schermerhorn ML, O'Malley AJ, Jhaveri A, Cotterill P, Pomposelli F, Landon BE. *Endovascular vs. open repair of abdominal aortic aneurysms in the Medicare population.* The New England Journal of Medicine. 2008; 358(5):464-74.

Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network SIGN 105: Management of acute upper and lower gastrointestinal bleeding. September 2008

Silver A, Bendick P, Wasvary H. Safety and efficacy of superselective angioembolization in control of lower gastrointestinal hemorrhage. American Journal of Surgery 2005; 189 (3):361-3.

Spronk S, Bosch JL, den Hoed PT, Veen HF, Pattynama PM, Hunink MG. Cost-effectiveness of endovascular revascularization compared to supervised hospital-based exercise training in patients with intermittent claudication: a randomised controlled trial. Journal of Vascular Surgery. 2008 Dec; 48 (6):1472-80.

Spronk S, White JV, Bosch JL, Hunink MGM. *Impact of claudication and its treatment on quality of life*. Seminars in Vascular Surgery. 2007; 20(1):3-9.

Starnes BW, Quiroga E, Hutter C, Tran NT, Hatsukami T, Meissner M, et al. *Management of ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysm in the endovascular era*. Journal of Vascular Surgery. 2010 Jan; 51(1):9-17; discussion -8.

Tarride JE, Blackhouse G, De Rose G, Novick T, Bowen JM, Hopkins R, et al. *Cost-effectiveness analysis of elective endovascular repair compared with open surgical repair of abdominal aortic aneurysms for patients at a high surgical risk: A 1-year patient-level analysis conducted in Ontario, Canada.* Journal of Vascular Surgery. 2008 Oct; 48(4):779-87.

The REST Investigators. *Uterine-artery embolisation versus surgery for symptomatic uterine fibroids*. N Engl J Med 2007; 356:360-70.

The Royal College of Radiologists and the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. *Improving paediatric interventional radiology services.* London. The Royal College of Radiologists, 2010.

The United Kingdom EVAR Trial Investigators. *Endovascular versus Open Repair of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm.* New England Journal of Medicine. 2010.

Timaran CH, Prault TL, Stevens SL, Freeman MB, Goldman MH. *Iliac artery stenting versus surgical reconstruction for TASC (TransAtlantic Inter-Society Consensus) type B and type C iliac lesions*. Journal of Vascular Surgery. 2003 Aug; 38(2):272-8.

UK renal registry report 2005. *New adult patients starting renal replacement therapy in the UK in 2004* http://www.renalreg.com/Report%202004/Cover_Frame.htm

Varty K, Nydahl S, Butterworth P, Errington M, Bolia A, Bell PR, et al. *Changes in the management of critical limb ischaemia*. British Journal of Surgery. 1996 Jul; 83(7):953-6.

Volkers NA, Hehenkamp WJK, Birnie E, Ankum WM, Reekers JA *Uterine artery embolisation* versus hysterectomy in the treatment of symptomatic uterine fibroids: 2 years outcome from the EMMY trial. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2007: 196:519.e1-11

Walker WJ, Barton-Smith P. Long-term follow up of uterine artery embolisation – an effective alternative in the treatment of fibroids. BJOG 2006 April: 464-468.

Waterstone M., Bewley S. and Wolfe C. *Incidence and predictors of severe obstetric morbidity:* case-control study BMJ 2001; 322 1089-1093

Weninger P, Mauritz, W, Fridrich P, et al. *Emergency Room Management of Patients with Blunt Major Trauma: Evaluation of the Multislice Computed Tomography Protocol Exemplified*

by an Urban Trauma Center. Journal of Trauma-Injury Infection & Critical Care 2007;62:584-591

Wolf GL, Wilson SE, Cross AP, Deupree RH, Stason WB. Surgery or balloon angioplasty for peripheral vascular disease: a randomized clinical trial. Principal investigators and their Associates of Veterans Administration Cooperative Study Number 199. Journal of Vascular and Interventional Radiology. 1993 Sep-Oct; 4(5):639-48.

Wu O, Briggs A, Dutton S, Hirst A, Maresh M, Nicholson A McPherson K. *Uterine Fibroid Embolisation for the treatment of symptomatic uterine fibroids: a cost utility analysis of the HOPEFUL study.* BJOG 2007 .114 (11):1352-62.

Zheng et al, *Transjugular Intrahepatic Portosystemic Shunt Versus Endoscopic Therapy in the Secondary Prophylaxis of Variceal Rebleeding in Cirrhotic Patients: Meta-analysis Update* Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology: 2008. 42:5 507-516

Acknowledgements

We are indebted to all those who gave freely of their time and energy in writing this document most particularly to the members of the IR Clinical Reference Group and the Project Group

Mohammed Adrish Department of Health

Louise Browning Researcher

Dr Peter CavanaghChair of Clinical Reference Group

Dr Trevor Cleveland representing British Society of Interventional Radiologists

Alison Creech representing Royal College of Nursing
Dr Erika Denton National Clinical Director for Imaging
Rachel Dillon Medical Directorate, Department of Health

Professor Mary EvansPatient RepresentativeProfessor Peter GainesInterventional RadiologistDr John KaraniInterventional Radiologist

Peter Lemmey

Lucie Mussett

Medical Directorate, Department of Health
Dr Tony Nicholson

representing Royal College of Radiologists

Dr Matthew Tam SpR Radiology

Anne Shaw representing Society & College of Radiographers

Dr Richard Seymour representing NHS Improvement

Professor Anthony Watkinson Interventional Radiologist

Glynis Wivell Project Lead

Elaine Wright representing Royal College of Nursing